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PER CURIAM:



Nathaniel Brown and Avise Hunter appeal their convictions for (1)
o conspiracy to distribute cocaine and crack cocaine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846,
and (2) two counfs of disﬁibuﬁon of crack cocaine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §
- 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(C). Seeing no error, we affirm their convictions.
Charles Coleman also appealé }}is convictions and life sentence for (1)
; ccnspiracy to distribute cocaine and crack cocaine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846,
~and (2) two co'uhts of distribution of crack cocaine,‘in violation of 21 U.S.C. §
841(a)(1), (b)(i)(B). We affirm his convictions. However, we vacate Coleman’s
vsentenCe_ a‘nd' remand for further proceedings consistent cvith this opinion.'
Backgfound

- | On April 26,2001, Browﬁ, Hgﬁter, and Coleman were charged with
distributing'crack cocainevand a conspiracy to }dis‘tribute crack cocaine. On
September 7, 2001, the government ﬁled a notice pursuant to 21 U:S.C. § 851 of its
vintent'to seek a mandatory er sentence for Coleman under § 841(b)(1)(A), based
| cn the government’s allegation that Coleman had two prior felony drug convictions.
The case proceeded to trial with respect to the charges against Brown, Hunter, and
, 'Colemah. | |
On November 27, 2001, the district judge used the “jury box” method of voir

~ dire. The “jury box” method is a procedure in which the first twelve veniremembers
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are directed to the jury box and'quesﬁoned. The parties eXercise cause and
peremptory challenges regarding the first twelve veniremembers. The ehallehged
- veniremembers are then replaced with other veniremembers, ﬁnd the‘partievs are |
allowed to question and exercise challenges regarding the new merhbers. ,NO one
obj eeted to the “jury box;’ metﬁod of voir dire.
| After the first twelve jﬁrors were seated and questioned, the parties advised
the district court that they had no challenges for cause, and then began exercising
| their peremptory challenges. The defendants jointly had ten challen‘gesv available,
while the government had six. The district court sua sponte stfuck eight
| veniremembers for cause. -

'Duririg the voir dire, the defendants exercised a peremptory strike to excuse
Veniremember Ferguson, aﬁ'Aﬁican-American. Subsequently, veniremember Koon,
also an African-American; stated that she previou‘sly had served on a jui'y in a civil
trial and that the jury hed returned a verdict of “not ‘guilty” in t_hatcaSe. | The
government used a peremptory strike against Koon, at which point the defendants |
| objeeted that the goverhment had stricken “two, possibly three, black jurors” and

requested a race-neutral explanation for the striking of Koon. The govemment
- responded that it struck Koon because of her prior participation in av trial in which

she had voted “not guilty.” The government also added that it had not, to that point,
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stricken any black jurors, but rather thedefendants had stricken Ferguson. The

B defendants responded, “Oh, we struck F ergusen? e I apologize.”

| After'the tWelve regular jurors were selected, four potential altefnate jurors
"‘were seated for questioning. The district court di.smissed one of those

| veniremembers (who had stated that he “would be .. . . partial”’) and another was

‘ breught in his place. The govermnent stated that it had no objections to the four
Venirertlembers and would “pass” on a peremptory strike. Noting that twe lof the
venirerriembers needed to be relieved, the district court required the parties to
's,ubmit petertiptory strikes. The govermhent therefore exercised its strike against
Veniremember Reed, an African-Americaﬁ‘whesaid he had been around drug use.
The 'defendants objected to the ‘striking of another black veniremember and

| requested a race-neutral explanation. The goverhme_nt replied that it had notblwanted
to exercise any peremptory strikes, bﬁtvthatv it struck Reed because he had been

| "around drug use and was the first altemate_called. Based on that response, the

: district court decided to let the strike stand.

E 'TAhe jury trial proceeded for seven days. At tf_ial, Walter Lee Hall, a
vcodefendant who had pled guiltyv to the instant conspiracy, testified for the
» govertlment. He admitted that he was coof)erating with the government and

testifying at trial in an effort to obtain favorable treatment at sentencing. Hall
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testified that he began purchasing crack from Coleman and selling drugs to Brown
in 1998. 'Hall said that Brown initially bought drugs from him “probably like every
, day, twwe a day.” Hall also testlﬁed that he saw Brown on several occas1ons
} selling crack in Green Cove Springs, Florida, and obtaining drugs directly from
Coleman and c‘odefendant Rodérick Harris. In addition, Hall said that he sold drugs | |
to Hunter “two or three times,” and that Hall knew Hunter sold the drugs hé
received from him. On Cro_ss-exanunation, Hall was impeached with several
'V statements from a prior he‘aring that were inconsistent with his trial fe_stimony.
Vaughn Kenny, a patrol sergeant with the Clay County Sheriff’s Office
(CCS0), also testified for the governmént. Operating undercover, Kenny observed
Steve Arnold, a known cfack user who was working with the CCSO, make two
Séparate crack purchases from Brown in December 1998. _Although both
transactions had been videotaped, the relevant videotape had‘been destroyed by law
enforcemnent afier a period of time. |
Steve Arnold téstiﬁéd that he had been working with the CCSO since 1998,.
| making street-level crack purchases' for pay. Arnold testified that once on
September 28, 2000 and three times on March 7 2001, Arnold purchased small
amounts of crack from Brown On cross-examination, Arnold admitted that he was

paid to testify and had a history of crack addiction.
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Aguanda‘ Battle, a sfreet—level crack dealer from Green Cove who was
~ testifying in e;xéhange for prosecutorial immuhity,_testiﬁed that she observed Brown
purchase drugs ﬁom Coléman “once of twice” and sell drugs in Green Cove.
‘ ‘Roderick Harris, a.k.a. Lou Stiles, was andther codefendant who pled guilty

| and was testifying in exchange for a p’otentially reduced sentenced. He testiﬁéd that
he sold Brown approximately $200 w;)rth of crack every day for a period of time.
: Bfown‘then resoid the crack, according to Harris, in Green Cové. ‘In addition,
Harris téstiﬁed that he worked with Hunter as well. Harris said that Hunter often
sold dl'lvlgSF out of Harris’ car and that Huhter traveled with Harris to Palatka, Florida
Z “ta]t least ten times” in order to purchase drugs Hams claimed that he “fronted”
,Hunter drugs, which Hunter thén sold bn the étreet. According to Harris, he and his
customers 5(including Hunter) had an agreement to distribute drugs for profit, and
Harris was dependant upon his customers to achieve that objective;‘

Finally, Charlotte S"nvlith,‘ a crack dealer who pléd guilty to the instant offense
R énd was testifying in cooperation with ihe goyernnient, testified that she had seen
BroWh sell drugs on a few occaSidns. |

Fdllowing the government’s case in chief, the defendants moved for a}
- judgment of acquittal pursuant to Federal Ruie of Criminal Procedure 29.

Specifically, Brown challenged the conspiracy charge, arguing that (1) the evidence



shown by the testimony did not establish the existerice of a conspiracy, .(2) there
was no evidence that Brown was a member of any conspiracy that may have |
existed, and (3) Buyer—seller drug transactions are not conspiratorial, 'standi‘ng alone.
The court denied Brown’s motion. |

Brown subsequently"proposed the following instruction regarding the
conspiracy charge: “Mere proof of the existence of a buyer-seller reblationship'is not
'enough to convict one as a co-conspirator on drug conspiracy charges.” ‘The
government opposed the proposed instrucfion. Upon the government’s suggestion,
the court proposed instead the following instruction: “A conspiracy does not exist
when, in an isolated transaCtion, SOmeone merely sells arld another merely buys
alleged drugs for personal consumption. Personal corlsumption by the buyer
himself.’,’ The court asked if there was “anything further” on the instruction, and the
defendants responded, “No, YoUr Honor.” }. | |

The jury found Brown; Hunter, and Coleman guilty on both the conspiracy
and the distriblition c}rarges. The defendants filed motions for a new trial, which
| were denied. On August 1, 2002, the district court held a sehtencing hearing for
Brown and Hunter. Both received terms of life irrlprisonment.

Pr’ior' to his scheduled sentencing, Coleman filed a written obj ection to the use

of one of his two prior state felony convictions to support a statutory sentence
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enhancement pursuant to § 851. Coleman objected that his conviction for
B possession of cocaine in 1997 in Dade County, Florida, was constitutionallyv infirm
becausei Colkel‘nan"s pleafo that charge Was not knowingly‘and intelligently made as
~aresult of ineffective assistance of counsel. ‘Col_eman"s claim of ineffective
| assistance of counsel was based on,thc? fact that Coleman’s lawyer in 1997 did not
teIl Coleman that he had a statute of lilmitations defense to his 1997 charge that, if
- pursued, would have been successfu‘l.” Coleman alléges that had he been advised of
 the statute of lixnitéﬁons defénse, he would have asserted it instead of entering a
guilty bleé to th¢ charge. The district court held an evideﬁtiary hearing on the issue, |
aﬁd overruled Coleman’s objection. The céurt sentenced Coleman to life
imprisonment. | | | |
Brown, Hunter, and Coleman appeal their} qonvictions, and Coleman also
appéals his life ’sentence. Specifically, Brown alleges (1) that theré'was insufficient
vevidence to convict him.o_f the conspiracy charge, and (2) that the district court erred
| by giving a more limited “bUyer—seller” jury instruétion than Browh requested.
Huntef alleges (1) that there was insufficient evidence to convict him of the
- conspiracy charges, (2) thét the district court erred by giving a more limited ‘;buyer- |
seller” jury instruction than was requested, and (3) that the district court erred by

- denying Hunter’s challenges, pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986),
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to the governmeht’s exercising of peremptory strikes a'gaihst two black
veniremembers. F inélly, Coleman alleges on appeal (1) that the district }court'erred
by using thé “Jury box” method of voir dire and sua sponte excusing ’several jurvbrsv‘
for cause, and (2) that the distriét court err¢d by determining that Céleman’é 1997
convictions was not constitutionally infirm, and thus, pfoperly cé_uld be used to
senténce him to a mandatory ferm of life imprisonment.

| L.

We first consider Brown’s claim thét there was insufficient evidence
presented at trial to convict him of the conspiracy charge. We i'eview de novo
sufficiency of evidence claims‘. United States v. Toler, 144 F.3d 1423, 1428 (11th
Cir. 1998). For the evidence to be sufficient, there rhust have been enough evidence
presented at trial to allow a reasonable jury to conclude that the defendant’s guilt
was established beyond a reasonable dbubt. Id. We review the evidence in the light
most favorable to the jgry’s verdict. United States v. ‘Trujillo, 146 F.3d 838, 845
(11th Cir. 1998). The evidence need not exclude every reasonable hypothesis of |
innoéence and jurors are free to chobse among reasonable constructions of the
evidence‘. United States v. Weaver, 905 F.2d 1466, 1479 (11th Cir. }1990). |

Furthennore, we may not reconsider the credibility choices made by the jury,

so long as the challenged testimony is not incredible as a matter of law. United

9



Stdtes v. Chastain, 198 F.3d 1338, 1351 (11th Cir. 1999). “For testimony of a
, govermnent witness to be incredible as a matter of law, it must be unbelievable on
its face” and mus}t relatefo “facts that [fhe witness] physically could not have
possibly observed or events that could not have occurred under the laws of nature.”
| United States v. Calderon, 127 F.3d 1|314,» 1325 (11th Cir. 1997) (allteration ih
origihal) (intemal quOtatio_ns and cifdt’ions omitted), modified on other grounds, 144
- F.3d 123 (11th Cir. 1998). |

Brown makes only oﬁe argument to support his sufficiency of the evidence
»qle‘lim. BréWn argues that the only evidence presented at trial of his guilt to the
ﬁ c;)hspiracy charge was tesﬁmony by partiéé that were either on drugs, were undér
. gov’grnment proSecution, weré paid 1.by' law eﬁforcement, or were successfully
‘impeached on chss-exanﬁnation. Thus, according to Brown, the witnesses Were ,
not credible and did not provide sufﬁcient evidence for the jury to ﬁnd Brown guilty
of the'conSpiracy charge. “ ) |

Brown’s argument is without merit. The jury is entitled to believe the
witnevs‘s‘es" testimony, even if sdme of those witnesses had made prior inconsistent
~ statements and had criminal backgrounds. See Calderon, 127 F.3d at 1325 (Stating '
that “fhe fact that [the witness] has consistently lied in the past, engaged in various

criminal activities, [and] thought that his testimony would benefit him . . . does not
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make his testimony. incredible.”) (altératiOns in original) (internal quotations and
citations omitted). The jury made credibility determinations as to the veracity of the
- witnesses, and we do not reWeigh such evidence on appeal. See Chastain, 198‘F.3d
" at 1351. Thus, Brown’s sufficiency of the evidence claim fails. - |
IL
Hunter, likewise, alleges that sufficient evidence Wasv not presented at trial for
the ju:;'y to find him guilty of the consi)iracy charge. Specifically, Hunter argues that
‘. the trial testimony established,‘at mdst, that he was an individual buyer and seller of
drugs, and that a buyer-seller felationship isnota conspiratoﬁél agreement. He also
 asserts that the fact that he‘knew»some of the codefendants did not nécessarily make
him part of the conspiracy.
‘ kIn order to obtain a conviction for conspirécy, the govemment must prove
“(1) that an agreement existed between [the defehdant] and one or fnore other
persons, (2) to engage in unlawful activity ... . .” Uhited States v. Gil, 204 F.3d
1347, 1349 (11th Cir. '2000). Such an agreement constitutes a conspiracy only if the
| 'partiés have the same criminal objective. United States v. Dekle, 165 F.3dv82}6, 829
‘(1 1th Cir. 1999). ’Irll the context of a conspiracy fo distribute drugs, a simple bﬁyer-
- seller relationship does not constitute a conspiratorial agreement because the pérties

do not share a common objective, namely, the objective of distributing drugs. Id. at
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829-30; see also United States v Burroitghs, 830 F.2d 1574, 1581 (11th Cir. 1987),
, eert. dénied, 48}5 U.S. 969 (1988) (stating thaf, “tW]here the buyer’s purpose is -
merely to buy, and the seiler’s purpose ;is merely to sell, and no prior or
' contemporaneons understanding exists between the two beyond the sales agreement,
" no censpiracy has been shown.”). The purpose of fche buyer-seller rule “is to |
~ separate consumers, who do not plan tlo redistribute drugs fer proﬁf, from street-
leVel, mid-level, and--other distributqre, who ‘do intend to redistribute drugs for
profit, thereby ‘_furt'hering the objective of the conspiracy.” United Staz‘es. v. vy, 83 |
| K.3d 1266; 1285-86 (10th Cir. 1996).

| Contrary to Hunter’s contention, the' evidenee demonstrated that he, at least
implicitly, agreed with several indiVidnals to distribute crack cocaine for profit.
‘Harris and Hall both testified that they sold/crack to Hunter and that they knew that
Hunter then sold the crack on the street. Harris also testlﬁed that he and his |
.customers, including Hunter, had a joint objective of distributing the drugs for profit.
R We find that there was sufficient evidence to snpport the jury’s verdict, and thus
Hunter’s sufficiency of the evi’dence} c1ain1 fails. |

| | - ILL
~ We next consider Hunter’s assertion that the district court erred by denying

Hunter’s challenges, pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), to the
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goVernment’s exercising of peremptory strikes against black veniremembers Koon
and Reed. We review de novo the equal protection principles of Batson, but review
- only for clear error the district court’s détermination regarding why a veniremcrriber ’
. was excused. United States v. Allen-Brown, 243 F.3d 1293, 1296-97 (11th Cir.
2001) (quotations and citations omitted), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1010 (2001).
A party may not exercise a peremptory challenge against a juror if the -

.challenge 1s based on race. Batson, 476 U.S. at 96-98. We apply a three-step
| procedure to determine whether a party has violated thcvprinciple anrlunciated in
Batson: (1) the party vobjecting‘ to the challenge must make a prima facie showing
 that the challenge was exer'cised based on the potential jilror’s race; (2) upon such a
showing, the party exercising the challenge must prcvide a “race-neiitral explanation
f‘or', striking the jurors in question;” and (3) the district court “must determine
whether the objector has carried [his] Burden of proving purrioseful discrimination.”
Allen-Brown, 243 F.3d at 1297. Unless the objecting party makes a prima facie
showing, the district court may not require the other party to articulate a race-neutral
| justiﬁcation for its peremptory challenges, and we may not reverse the district
court’s decision to upholyd the contested peremptcry challenge. United States v

Stewart, 65 F.3d 918, 925 (11th Cir. 1995).
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r“[A] showing that a party used its authorized perémptofy strikes against
jurors of one race does not, standing alone, establish a prima facie case of |
discritninatioh.” Centrai Ala. Fair Hous. Ctr. Inc. v. Lowder Realty Co., 236 F3d
"629, 637 (11th Cir. 2000). Rather, “[t]he nﬁmber of persohs of a particular race
._ struck takes on» meaning only when Cqupled with other information such as the racial
composition of the venire, the race of 'others struck, or the voir dire answers of
: thvose who were: struck compared to the answers of fhose who Weré not struck.” Id.
at 636-37.

' 1_ Huﬁter failed to make a prima facie case that Koon was stricken because of
hér race. Regarding the government’s strike of Koon, Hunter said that Koon was
‘black and that the govefrimenf had stn'éken “ﬁvo, possibly three, black jurors.”

| After the government noted that Hunter was the one who had stricken the only other
black veniremember up to that point, ‘Hunter responded, “Oh, we sfruck Ferguson? .
| apol_ogize.v” Thus, the only evidence proffered by Hunter to support his Batson

| élaim regarding the striking of Koon is the fact that Koon is black. That is

 insufficient. Hunter did not supplement his claim with other information from which

_ -thé district court could have éoncluded- that the government sought to strike Koon

based on her race, such as “the racial composition of the venire, the race of others

struck, or the voir dire answers of those who were struck compared to the answers
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of those who were not struck.” Lowder Realty, 236'F.3d at 637. Thus, Hunter’s
claim that the govefhment improi)erly had stricken Koon because he is black is
insufﬁcient to make the required prima facie showing.

Hunter also failed to make 2 prima facie showing that the potential alternate
juror Reed was stricken because of his raée. The only evidence that Hunter
i)rovided the district court was that Reed was the second black veniremember
‘stricken by the govemment. That reééon, alone, is insufficient. As a mattér of law, -
| merely showing that two veniremembers were stricken Who have thé} same race is
- not enough to establish a prima facie case. Lowder Realty, 236 F.3d at 636 (finding
that the mere fact that a party strﬁck two white males is insufficient to establish a
prima facie Case).

We conclude;, therefore, that the district court did not error in allowing the
govemfnent to étrikc Koon and Reed.v |

IV.

Bro_wn and Huﬁter also allege that the district court erred by giving a more
| limifed “buyer-seller” jury instruction than the one they requested. The
government’s instruction that Brown and Hunter challenge on appeal ié the
‘ folloWing: “A conspiracy does not exist when, in an isolated tran'sac‘tion,v someone
mérely sells and another merely buys alleged drugs for personaﬂ consumptibn.
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Pefsonal consumption by the buyer himself.” Brown and Hunter argue that the
| 'instruction was erroneous because of its limitatidh_ to pﬁrchases “for personai =
bonsu'mption.” - Their argﬁment lacks merit.
‘Brown éhd Hunfer did ﬁot object to the di‘strictbéburt’s instrﬁction on appeal,
thus we review their claim for plain CI:I‘OI'. United Staies v; Freixas, 332 F.3d 1314,
13 16'( 11th Cir. 2003). Plain error dc(;urs only when there is (1) error, (2) vthat is
' plain, (3) that affects substantial right’g, and (4) that seriously affects the faimness,
integrity, or publié feputation of judicial pfoceedings. United States v. Hall‘,\ 312
| P[3d 1250, 1259 (11th Cir. 2002) (internai quotations omifted), cert. denied, 123
S.Ct. 1646 (2003). | |
. Contrary to Brown’s and Huntef’s ‘asse‘rtion, the jury instruction that the
district court gave the jury regarding the buyer-seller defense is a correct sfatément
~oflaw. The bﬁyer-seller defense is I-inlited to situations in Which drugs are bought
and soid only for personal'vconsumption. See vy, 83 F.3d at 1285-86; United States
v Brown, 895 F.2d 1331, ‘1334-35 (1 1th Cir. 1990) (overturning an individual’s |
cbnv’iéﬁonfor conspiracy to disfribute‘ cocaine where the‘deféndant purchased
} ‘cocai_ne for personal use). Thus, the challengedv jury instruction is not a plaiﬁ error
that affected Brown’s and Hunter’s substantial rights. |

V.
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Coleman challengeé the district court’s method of empaneling the jury.
Speciﬁcally, Coleman alleges the district court erred by (1) using the “jury box”
. method of Voir dire, and (2),su‘a sponte excusing several jurors for cause, thus |
dépriving him bf a jury that consists of a fair cross section of the cofnmunity.
Coleman failed to object to these alleged érrors at trial, thus We review his claims
- only for plain error. Freixas, 332 F.3d at 1316.

| The Sixth Amendment guarantées the right to an impartial jury, and the Jury
selection pfocesS and peremptory chéllenges are critical tO ensure that right. See
United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 US 304,311 (2000); Ross v. Oklahoma,
487 U.S. 81, 85 (1988). We have held that a district court has broad d‘iécretion‘to
determine the method of jury selection, as long as “the method of voir dire adopted
'b‘y‘the trial court is capable ‘of giving reasonable assurance that prejudice [of
potential jurorsj woul}d be'discoffer_ed‘if present.” United Sta?es V. Brunty, 701 F.2d
1375, 1378 (11th Cir. ;98,3); see also United States v. Holman, 680 F.2d 1340,
1344 (11th Cir. 1982_); In addition, “peremptory -challenges are not of a federal
| consﬁtutional dimension,” and without more, the loss or limitation on their use‘
“‘does’ not const,itﬁte a Viblatio_n of the constitutional right to an impartial jury.”

Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. at 311, 313. If the jury is actually impartial, then the
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| party }has no constitutional claim regardless of whether .a party was limited in the use
B '.of his or her peremptory challenges. See id. at 3}’13; Ross, 487 U.S. at 88. |
Con_trary te Colenran’s assertions, he fails to show plain error. A review of
| the record makes it clear that the jury selection process was “capable of giving
reas'onable assurance thar prejudice wpuld be discovered if present.” anty; 701
F..2d at 1378. Coleman was allowed ro evaluate the impartiality of each potential
' jlrror, and strike a potential juror if he so desired. Furthermore, Coleman makes no
claim that any ‘mernber of the jury seated by the district court was partial. Thus, his
| ¢laim must fail as there was no plain error in the jury selection process that denied
éoleman his Sixth Amendment right to an.impart,ial jury.
In additioh, Coleman ciairns thaf the court’s sua sponte dismissal of jurors for
cause denied hrm his constitutional right to have a fair cross section of the
community on his jury. This claim is without merit. The Sixth Arrlendment entitles
| defendarlts in criminal ~cases “to ar grand and perit jury selected at random from a fair
| eross section of the community.” United States v. Terry, 60 F.3d ‘1‘541, 1544 (1 lth
Cir}. '1'995) (emphasis added) (citation orrﬁtted). However, a defendant does not
- have a constitutional right to have the actual make-up of the petit jury be a fair cross
section of the community. See United States v. Rodriquez—Cardenas, 866‘ F.2d 390,
392-93 (11th Cir. 1989). Thus, Coleman’s claﬁn fails.
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VI
Finally, Coleman argues that the district court improperly overruled his
. objecﬁon to the use of his 1997 Florida felony conviction asa piedicate to enhance
his sentence to life imprisonment pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 851. Speciﬁcally, he
alleges that his 1997 felony conviction was obtained in violation‘of his Sixth
Aniendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Coleman asserts that fhe statute
| of limitations had run on the offense by 1997, and his attorney failed to inform him
i of his statute of limitations defense. Coleman claims that he would not have pled
guilty to the felony charge had he known that a complete defense existed.
‘A defendant may collaterally attack a conviction for purposes of § 851(e) if
the challenge involves a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. United States v.
Jackson, 57 F.3d 1012, 1019 (11th Cir. 1995). We review de novo whether a
defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel. Brownlee v. Haley, 306 F.3d
1043, 1058 (11th Cir. 2002).
We appl}i a two part test to determine if a guilty plea, based on alleged
| ineffective assistance of counsel, was knowing and ‘Voluntar‘y. See Hill v. _Lockhart,_ :
474 U.S. 52,57 (1985). The defendant must shew that (l) his counsel’s |

representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) “there is a
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reasonable pr_obabili,ty that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pled guilty

; .and would have insisted on going to trial.” Id. at 59. |

'» First, Coleman argﬁes that his counsel in 1997 provided him with

' .repreSentation that fell below an objective sténdafd of reasonableness because his

| attorney did not advise Coleman of hi§ statute of limitations defense that wouid have

barred his conviction;l When Colema'n was arrested in 1997, his attorney told him

’ that he vcould pléad guilty and receive a sentence of time-served (four days), and
thus go home imniediately. Coleman’s attorney did not advise Coleman that he had

'a Statute of limitations defense that would have been a cbmplete defense to the
fé:lony charge. In other words, Coleman’s Iattorney did not advise Coleman thaf
Coleman had thé option to avoid conviction c;f a felony without a trial because the

charge was time barred. -

The government argues, and t}hev district court determined, tﬁat it was

reasonable for Coleman’s'attomey to not assert the statute of limitations defense

!'The district court said that “it appears” Coleman’s statute of limitations

- defense “may have been successful,” but the court did not deem it necessary to
‘make that determination. The district court’s analysis assumed that the statute of

~ limitations defense would have succeeded. Likewise, we will analyze the effective

assistance of counsel claim with the assumption that the statute of limitations ,

defense would have succeeded. However, we will not make a factual finding that

the statute of limitations defense would have succeeded because the district court

made no determination on that issue for us to review.
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‘because Coleman’s primary goal ‘was an immediate release from jail. Asserting‘ the
statute of 1imitatione defense, according to the government, would have.meaht that

- Coleman would have had to stay in jail longer than. he did to 'await a ruling on the
motion challenging the charge on statute of limitations grounds. That argufnent
misses the mark. Coleman is hot alleging that his attofney’s fepresentation was
enreasonable because his attorney did not assert the defense, but rather that

“Coleman’s attorney was unreasonable because he did not advise Coleman fhat he
had 5 corriplete, defense. By not advising Coleman of his option of asserting a
complefe defense, and thus avoid a felony conviction'without a trial, Coleman

' claims that he could not make a kno'wing and voluntary plea of guilty.

It is difficult to eonceive how a lawyer failing to advise his client, before he
enters a plea of guilty, that he has a complete defense to a felony conviction is
“reasonable” representatieh. Indeed, the government offers no argument that
Colefnah’s attorney’s failure to advise him of his complete defense is reasonable.
We have said that “[1]n order for_‘a guilty plea to be entered knowingly and
inteliigently, the defendant . . ._ must be reasonably informed of . . . the legal options -
and alternatives that are available.” LoConte v. Dugger, 847 F.2d 745, 751 (11th
- Cir. 1998) (citations omitted). Coleman’s attorney’s failure to advise Coleman that

he had a complete defense to the felony charge is indefensible and unreasonable,
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and thus we find that the first prong of Coleman’s ineffective assistance claim is
satisfied. See, e.g., United States v. Hansel, 70 F.3d 6, 8 (2d Cir. 1995) (finding

that counsel’s failure to object to the time-barred counts cannot be considered a

 reasonable strategy).

Next, we must consider whethe'r the unreasonable representation that

_ Coleman recei&ed in 1993 prejudiced h1m Generally, in determining whether

' préjudice 18 shoWn, we inquire whether there is “a reasonable probability that, but
for counsel’s errofs, he wouid not have pleaded guilty and would have ihsisted on
going t’é tria 7 Hill, 474 U.S. at 59. Thé standard is slightly different in Coleman’s
c{rcumstances. The question we must ask is not Whéther, if properly advised of his
statqte of limitations defense, Colemah woulci have “insisted on going to trial,” but
rather whether he would have insisted on assertihg his statute of limitations defense
that would havé been argued and decided before trial. In other words, if Coleman
was properly advised, his "optio_ns would have been to (a) plead guilty to the felony

| éonviction and be sentenéed to time-séfved, or (b) assert his statut’e‘ of limitations
defense before deciding whether tb go to trial or accept the plea agreement. Thus,
we must consider whether, but fér' Coleman’s attorney’s failure to advise Coleman

of his statute of limitations defense, Coleman would have asserted that defense.
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In determining whether a defendant was p’rejudiced by ineffective

| représentation, the Supreme Court has said that we first must consider whethér the
attorney, if he discovered his error, would have advised his clieht differently
regarding the piea. For instance, “where the alleged error of counsel is a failure to
investigate or discover potentiélly exculpatory evidencé, the de’terminatidn whether
the ver.ror ‘prejudiced’ the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to

trial will depend on the likelihood that discovery of the evidence would have led

" counsel to change his recommendation as to the plea.” Id. at 59. In the instant case,

we must inquire whether, if Coleman’s attorney in 1997 discdvered that Coleman
~ had a statute of linﬁtations‘defenSe, would he have advised Coleman to pursue his
complete statute of limitations defense before deciding to plead guilty. This inquiry
Will “depend largely on whether the affirmative defense likely w‘oulcvl have
succeeded . . ..” Id. '
The district court madé no finding whether the statute of limitations defense
Woﬁld have succeédged in 1997, thus we will remand that issue for the district couft
to détermine in the first instance. If Coleman’s statute of limitations defense would
have been successful, then it is reasonably probable that, if Coleman’s attorney

would have discovered that defense, he would have advised Coleman to assert it

before pleading guilty to a felony. If that was the advise Coleman received from his
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attorney, it is reasonably probable that Coleman would not have pled guilty, and
B 'Irather would héve let his attorney assert his complete sfatute of limitations defense.
vThis 1s a reasonable éonciusion becausé, unlike the petitioner in Hill, Colefnan

,' speciﬁcally alléged that if he Would have knowflvabout' the statute of limitations -

“ defense, he would not have pled guilt)’/. See id. at 60.
The government alleges that Wé cannot conclude that Coleman would not
~ have pled guilty because Coleman’s primary i_ntenﬁon in 1997 was to “go home.”
’B»ecause _imme_diaté release from custody was his main concern, the government
argues, ev.en‘if Coleman would have known about his statute of limitations defense,
’ h‘e would have pled guilty in order to facilitate his immediate release instead of
waiting for the motion to be filed and then décide‘d upon by the judge. Thisisa
“conjecture, though, that isﬂfb‘arised on the assumption that asserting the statute of
limitations dcfénse would have meant that Coleman would vspend é’ significant
amount of additional time in custody. That assumption is not supported by the
| récord. Presu’mably,‘ if Coleman’s attdmey wquld have discovered ’the statute of
limitations defense and advised Coleman of it, Coléman wouid have allowed his
attorney to point out the issue to ‘the prosécutér; The prosecutor may have dfopped |

- the felony charge immediately when the statute of limitations issue was pointed out
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‘to him, rather than fight a presumany loSing battle before the judge.> That course of
action would have resulted in Coleman’s immediate release as well. There is

- nothing in the record precluding that poSsibility. Therefere, it ié reasonable to- |
conclude that Coleman’s primary objective of immediate release from custody could
not have only been achie\}ed by pleading guilty to the felony, but also could have
been achieved by asserting his statute of limitations defehse. The only differenee
between those two strategies is that asserting a statute of limitations defense,

| presﬁmably, Wou1d have prevented Coleman from being convicted of a felony and
acceptirtg the social stigma associated with a felony cOnﬁction. Thlis, Coleman was
prejudiced by his attomeyﬁ'failing to advise him of the statute of litrlitations defense,
which could have led to his immediate release witheut a felony conviction.

If Coleman, on remand, can show that the‘ statute of limitations defense would
have been successﬁll in 1997, then he will have shown that his att(.)meyfs‘
representation was‘ obj ectjvely unreasonable and that Coleman was prejudiced by
| that unreasonable representation. It is reasonably probable, that if the defense

| wouid have been successful, Coleman’s attorney would have advised Coleman to

| 2 This is reasonable to assume given that the prosecutor was willing to give
Coleman a punishment of time-served for the felony charge, thus allowing Coleman
to go home immediately.
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not plead guilty, and Iit is reasonably probable that Coleman would have followed

~ that advice.

Conclusion
 We find no error in the convictions of Brown, Hunter, and Coleman, and thus
| affirm their convictions. With respect to Coleman’s sentence, we vacate and |
'rémand for further proceedings consiétent with this opinion.

AFFIRMED in part, VACATED and REMANDED in part.
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